
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1. TO RECEIVE COMMENTS ON ORDINANCE 23-07 – FY23/24 OPERATING AND CAPITAL 
BUDGETS. 

 
2. TO RECEIVE COMMENTS ON ORDINANCE 23-09 – NONEXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE 

AGREEMENT WITH LUMOS FIBER. 
 

3. TO RECEIVE COMMENTS ON ORDINANCE 23-11 – REZONING OF TMS# R03202-01-16. 

TOWN COUNCIL MEETING – WILL FOLLOW THE PUBILC HEARINGS 
 
June 27, 2023 @ 7:00pm 
Irmo Municipal Building – 7300 Woodrow Street, Irmo, South Carolina 
 
Live streaming will be available from our YouTube channel at: 
https://www.youtube.com/c/TownofIrmo 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
I. Call to Order 

II. Pledge of Allegiance 

III. Invocation 

IV. Reading of Minutes – May 16, 2023 & June 6, 2023 

V. Report of Standing 

A. Administrative Briefing 

B. New In-Town Businesses 

The Purveyor of General Goods – 7001 St. Andrews Road 
Bob Chrisman – 207 Brickling Road 
Cola Bear Express Ice Cream, LLC. – 413 Charing Cross Road 
Infra Outdoor Sales, LLC. – 10019 Broad River Road 
JKR Logistics, LLC. – 7582 Irmo Drive 
Lloyd’s Soccer – 7163 St. Andrews Road 

https://www.youtube.com/c/TownofIrmo


 

Roxanne’s Market – 2900 Dreher Shoals Road Suite A 
National Entertainment Network, LLC. – 1180 Dutch Fork Road 
Palmetto Trinity Holdings, LLC. – 7163 St. Andrews Road 
Strand and Shade Hair Studio – 7715 St. Andrews Road 
Sweetlife – 908 Friarsgate Boulevard 
The Stitchin Kitten, LLC. – 7325 St. Andrews Road Ste D&E  

VI. Amendments to the Agenda 

VII. Consideration of Communication 

A. Recognition of Bellacino’s Pizza and Grinders as the June 2023 
Small Business of the Month. 

B. Recognition of the Lexington Medical Center’s Irmo Okra Strut 
Scholarship recipients: Trenton Brooks - Dutch Fork High School & 
Terry Beardslee - Irmo High School (Okra Strut Commission). 

C. Community Connections: 
1. Summer Food Service Program – June 12th – July 28th  
2. Forth of July Celebration on Lake Murray – July 1st  
3. Military Appreciation Night at Segra Park – July 2nd  
4. Town of Irmo’s Independence Day Celebration – July 3rd  
5. Lexington County Peach Festival – July 4th  
6. Silent Disco Festival – July 8th  
7. IHS & IMS Career Open House – July 13th  

D. Artist of the Quarter – Trish Gillam 

VIII. Presentation by Citizens (Agenda Items IX and X only) 

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

A. SECOND READING of ORDINANCE 23-07 to adopt the 
operating and capital budgets for FY23/24, including the Master 
Fee Schedule exhibit with amounts (Staff).  The proposed FY23/24 
budget is $9,178,321.  

B. SECOND READING of ORDINANCE 23-09 to grant Lumos 
Fiber of South Carolina a Nonexclusive Franchise Agreement 
(Staff).  This will grant Lumos an agreement to install fiber internet in the 
Town of Irmo.   

C. SECOND READING of ORDINANCE 23-10 to amend the 
Zoning and Land Development Appendix A – Article 3, Table 2 
(Planning Commission).  This will correct the table and add appropriate 
table references.   



 

D. SECOND READING of ORDINANCE 23-11 to rezone TMS# 
R03202-01-16 at the corner of Muskrat Run and Emerald Cove 
from General Residential (RG) to Fringe Agricultural (FA) 
(Planning Commission).   

X. NEW BUSINESS 
A. FIRST READING of ORDINANCE 23-12 to designate 

allocations for funding through the Coronavirus State and Local 
Recovery Funds (Staff).  This ordinance will allocate $1,496,243 in 
CSLRF to specific projects.     

B. FIRST READING of ORDINANCE 23-13 to direct the 
remaining Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds to 
the Town’s General Fund (Staff).  This ordinance will redirect funds 
from the Downtown District Project, Court Project, and Grant Award Project 
to the Town’s General Fund.    

C. FIRST READING of ORDINANCE 23-14 to amend multiple 
sections of the municipal code as well as Appendix A for the 
purpose of removing specific fee amounts (Staff).  This will remove 
the fees from the code and establish a master fee schedule with fees updated 
annually.   

D. FIRST READING of ORDINANCE 23-15 to amend Appendix 
A – Zoning and Land Development, Section 2-2, Table 1 – 
Schedule of Permitted, Conditional, and Special Exception Uses 
and the creation of Section 2-3.18 – Special Exceptions for Car 
Wash Facilities (Planning Commission).  This will require planned 
developments of Car Wash Facilities to obtain a Special Exception through the 
Zoning Board of Appeals. 

E. FIRST READING of ORDINANCE 23-16 to amend Appendix 
A – Zoning and Land Development, Section 2-2, Table 1 – 
Schedule of Permitted, Conditional, and Special Exception Uses 
and an amendment to Section 4-1.4 – Determination of Buffer 
Area Requirements (Planning Commission).  This ordinance will shift 
mini warehouses and self-storage units to the Light Manufacturing (LM) 
District and require planned developments of mini warehouses and self-
storage units to obtain a Special Exception through the Zoning Board of 
Appeals. 

F. FIRST READING of ORDINANCE 23-17 to amend Chapter 
2-Administration, Division 2-Meetings of the Irmo Municipal Code 
(Waldman).  This ordinance will allow council members to participate 
electronically in council or committee meetings.   

G. Approval to repair the well at the Town Park through AAA Well 
Drilling in the amount of $13,740 (Public Works).  This will repair 
the aging well with broken pump and motor at the Town Park.   



 

 

H. Approval to accept a grant award to replace aging body armor from 
SCDPS in the amount of $11,986 (Police Department).  This grant 
gives 100% of the funds needed to replace 10 police body armor vests as they 
expire.   

I. Approval to contract with Something Borrowed LLC in the amount 
of $7,770 to provide rental equipment for the 2023 Okra Strut 
Festival (Okra Strut Commission). 

J. Approval to contract with Custom Audio & Lighting in the amount 
of $12,100 to provide production services for the 2023 Okra Strut 
Festival (Okra Strut Commission). 

K. Approval to contract with Will & Kris Amusements in the amount 
of $15,700 to provide amusement rides for the 2023 Okra Strut 
Festival (Okra Strut Commission).  

L. Approval of the Intergovernmental Cooperative Agreement with 
the County of Lexington (Staff).  This IGA will allow the Town of Irmo to 
participate in the CDBG, Home Investment Partnership and Emergency 
Solutions Grant Programs facilitated by Lexington County.   

M. Approval of Memorandum of Understanding with Keep the 
Midlands Beautiful (Staff).  This will extend the agreement with KMB for 
another year and will provide the town with creek cleanups and other litter 
control programs.      

N. Approval to solicit for bids to replace the Town’s Comprehensive 
Plan (Danielson).  Bid requests will be solicited from vendors to rewrite the 
plan for the next 10 years.   

O. Approval to solicit bids for professional services from 
Architectural/Engineering firms to build a new Town Hall 
(Mayor).  Bid requests will be solicited from firms to provide programming 
and professional services for the planning and designing of a new Town Hall 
using a Design-Build project delivery method.     

P. Approval to submit encroachment permits on behalf of the Irmo 
Future Growth’s Signal/Traffic Box Wrap Project (Staff).  The town 
will submit permits and request permission from SCDOT to wrap signal boxes 
with new vinyl graphics.   

Q. Approval to establish a First Responder’s Memorial Advisory 
Committee (Mayor).  This will create an advisory committee to explore the 
development of a First Responder’s Memorial. 

R. Approval to close portions of St. Andrews Road, Church Street, 
and Eastview Drive during the annual Okra Strut Festival from 
Friday, September 29 through Saturday, September 30, 2023 
(Police Department).  Portions of these roads will be closed for a parade 
on Saturday and events on Friday & Saturday.   



 

S. Appointment to the Okra Strut Commission – 1 unexpired term to 
be filled that will end in December 2024 (Staff).  New applicants to 
review are Sandra Fulmer, Clay (Buddy) Burke, Bryant White, & Dr. John 
Waddell.        

 
XI. Presentation by Citizens 

XII. Discussion 

XIII. Executive Session – Council may act on items discussed in executive session after 
returning from the executive session. 

A. Personnel Matter §30-4-70(A)(1) – Town Administrator’s Annual 
Review. 

 

XIV. Adjournment 

In accordance with the requirements of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), 
the Town of Irmo will not discriminate against qualified individuals with disabilities based on 
disability in its services, programs, or activities.  If you need accommodations to attend the meeting, 
please contact the Town Administrator or Municipal Clerk for assistance at (803)781-7050, M-F 
between the hours of 8:30 – 5:00 (closed most Federal and State Holidays). 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA)               ORDINANCE  23-07 
              )          AN ORDINANCE TO ADOPT THE OPERATING  
TOWN             OF               IRMO)              AND CAPITAL BUDGETS FOR FY 23/24 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Irmo, South Carolina, in council duly and lawfully 
assembled and by the authority thereof enacts this Ordinance to comply with the laws of the State of 
South Carolina. 
 
WHEREAS, as part of this Ordinance, the Council also wishes to adopt and establish a master fee 
schedule for certain fees and charges for town services, along with amounts for existing fees.   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED AND ORDAINED that budgets for the fiscal year 
commencing on July 1, 2023, through June 30, 2024, in amounts below are hereby established: 
 

E X P E N D I T U R E S 
 
 
 I.  GENERAL FUND:  
   
 A.  Operating/Capital Expenses: 
      
  Administrative Department   $   862,331  
         Court        $   393,119 
  Confiscated Funds     $       5,000 
         Legislative Department     $     59,556 
    Non-Departmental        $1,494,189     
  Public Safety       $3,996,544 
  Public Services Department    $   987,582 
  Sanitation      $1,380,000    
                              
TOTAL OF ALL OPERATING GENERAL FUND 
EXPENDITURES:        $9,178,321 
 
II.  PROPRIETARY FUND: 
 
 A.  Okra Strut       $  171,750 
  
 
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES OF 
ALL FUNDS:        $9,350,071  
 



TOTAL EXPENDITURES    $9,350,071 
 
 R E V E N U E S 
 
 
 I.  GENERAL FUND REVENUES 
 
 A.  Operating revenues        $7,793,321 
 B.  Sanitation collections     $1,385,000 
 C.  Appropriation from reserves    $              0  
   
II.  PROPRIETARY FUNDS       
  
 A.   Okra Strut       $   171,750 
  
  
                        
  
   TOTAL REVENUE ALL FUNDS             $9,350,071 
 
 
Section 1.  The tax levy for the fiscal year 2023/2024 shall be 0 millage. 
 
Section 2.  The Town Administrator shall administer the budget and, in doing so and to achieve the 
goals of this Budget, may, among other things, do the following: 

a. Transfer appropriated funds within and between departments and funds as necessary. 

b. Implement controls by fund appropriation. 

Section 3.  Department Heads may transfer from one line item to another up to $1,500 with 
approval from the Town Administrator.  Amounts over $5,000 require Town Council approval. 
 
Section 4.  All transfers between departments and in/out of personnel must be approved by the 
Town Administrator and the Town Council.   
 
Section 5.  Expenditures approved by Council shall automatically carry amendments to fund 
appropriations where necessary. 
 
Section 6.  All authorized purchase orders issued prior to July 1st incumber funds to be expended in 
the following year. 
 



Section 7.  The billing dates, the penalty dates, and the amount of penalty which shall be levied for 
delinquent taxes shall be the same as those established by Richland and Lexington counties, 
respectively, and pursuant to State Law. 
 
Section 8.  As a part of this Budget, the Council hereby establishes and adopts certain fees and 
charges, as identified, and set out as proposed fees and charges in the attached exhibits to this 
Ordinance.  The attached Master Fee Schedule is hereby incorporated into and adopted as a part of 
this Ordinance.  All fees and charge amounts set out therein or adopted shall continue in effect from 
year to year until revised or modified by subsequent Council action.   
 
Section 9.  If for any reason any sentence, clause or provision of this ordinance shall be declared 
invalid, such shall not affect the remaining provisions hereof. 
 
DONE IN MEETING DULY ASSEMBLED, this Ordinance shall become effective July 1, 2023, 
after Second and Final Reading by Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     _________________________________  
     Barry A. Walker, Sr., Mayor 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Renee Caviness, Municipal Clerk 
           
1st Reading:  May 16, 2023  
2nd Reading: June 27, 2023 
Public Hearing: June 27, 2023 



ADMINISTRATION 
FOIA Fee First 30 minutes 4.00$           

Each additional minute 0.40$           

Additional for digital media burned to CD/DVD 5.00$           

Per B/W printed copy 0.10$           

Per color printed copy 0.25$           

25.00$        

50.00$        

50.00$        

Holiday Rate (Traffic/Security) per Hour 100.00$      

Tickets/Fines

Handicapped Parking 500.00$      

No Parking Zone 50.00$        

Fire Lane 200.00$      

Parked on Yellow Curb 50.00$        

Blocking Street 200.00$      

Blocking Sidewalk 50.00$        

Parking within 15 ft of fire hydrant 200.00$      

Blocking Crosswalk 50.00$        

Blocking Driveway 50.00$        

* Penalty of $25 if Handicapped Parking fine not paid within 5 days; all others $10 penalty if not paid within 5 days

PLANNING, ZONING , AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

Zoning Zoning Permit 50.00$        

100.00$      

25.00$        

25.00$        

50.00$        

  TOWN OF IRMO
MASTER FEE SCHEDULE

100.00$      

Communication Tower Permit 

(New Construction or Co-

Location)

Permitting 200.00$      

DEPARTMENT/PROGRAM FY 2023-2024 FEEDETAIL

Officer

Per CheckReturned check fee

POLICE DEPARTMENT 
Administration

Officer

Officer

FOIA Fee*Collision & Incident Reports

Security Services per Hour

Traffic Control per Hour

Permitting Sign Permit

*Free to victims or those listed on the case file

Zoning Administrative Appeal

Verification Letters

Permitting Special Events Permit

Zoning

Variance, Special Exception, or 

Annexation Application
Zoning

Town of Irmo Master Fee Schedule | 1



150.00$      

Moving a Mobile Home; 

New, Used or De-Title

75.00$        

25.00$        

55.00$             

155.00$          

105.00$          

225.00$          

30.00$             

 $            65.00 

 $            65.00 

 $            65.00 

Permitting 165.00$      

Subtrade Permit Fees - Through CC&I

Gas Permit

*Unit is defined as any structure having a separate electric meter

Plumbing Permit

Mechanical Permit

2nd Re-Inspection 

3rd and Greater

Re-Inspection Fees (All Inspection Types) - Through CC&I
1st Re-inspection 

Three Stories

Each Additional Story

Permitting

$100,001 to $1,000,000 $955.00 plus $4.25/$1,000

$1,000,001 to $5,000,000 $4,750.00 plus $3.20/$1,000

$5,000,001 and Up $17,385.00 plus $2.15/$1,000

Appeals of Building Codes 

Application

Building Permit Fees - Through CC&I

Penalties:Permit fees shall be doubled if construction begins prior to obtaining permits

$4.75/$1,000 for jobs over $1,000 plus $50.00 

base fee

Electrical Permit

Permitting Tree Removal Application 

Value of Work 

Less than $5,000

$5,001 to $100,000

Plan Review Fees - Through CC&I
Commercial

Permitting
Moving a Building (No 

Construction)

Residential

50% of Permit Fee

10% of Permit Fee

Demolition Permit Fees - Through CC&I
Commercial

Residential

Permit Fee Amount

$55.00 plus $9.50/$1,000

Value of work shall be determined by the construction cost or by using the latest ICC Building Valuation Date using 

the South Carolina Multiplier

Town of Irmo Master Fee Schedule | 2



1 acre or less 50.00$             

1+ to 2 acres 100.00$          

2+ to 5 acres 150.00$          

5+ to 10 acres 200.00$          

10+ to 20 acres 250.00$          

20+ to 50 acres 300.00$          

50+ to 100 acres 350.00$          

100+ acres 400.00$          

 $          300.00 

 $          275.00 

 $          250.00 

 $          225.00 

 $          200.00 

 $          175.00 

 $          150.00 

 $          125.00 

 $          400.00 

 $          375.00 

 $          350.00 

 $          325.00 

 $          300.00 

 $            50.00 

In Town 

Rate Class

Income: $0-

$2,000 

(Minimum)

Out of 

Town Rate 

Class

Income: $0-

$2,000 

(Minimum)

Over $2,000 

Per Thousand

1 $35.00 1A $70.00 $1.80

2 $40.00 2A $80.00 $2.00

3 $45.00 3A $90.00 $2.20

4 $50.00 4A $100.00 $2.40

5 $55.00 5A $110.00 $2.60

6 $60.00 6A $120.00 $2.80

7 $65.00 7A $130.00 $3.00

8.1 $30.00 8.1A $60.00 $2.00

8

9.3 $200.00 9.3A $400.00 $1.30

9.41 $20.00 9.42A $100.00 $3.50

$0.65

$1.75

See additional class 8 rate details below

*Includes $8.00 annual stormwater fee; Fees listed beside month reflect first time fees for the remainder of the 

year prior to fees being placed on County property taxes.  Annual fee of $300 thereafter.

$1.20

Sediment Control & Drainage Plan Submittal Fees

May

June

March

April

February

Solid Waste & Stormwater Fees*
January

July

August

September

October

November

December

Business License

Over $2,000 per 

thousand

$0.90

$1.00

$1.10

$1.30

$1.40

$1.00

Recycling Bin

Annual Solid Waste/Stormwater Fee

$1.50

Town of Irmo Master Fee Schedule | 3



Declining Scale applies in all Classes for gross income in excess of $1,000,000

Class 8 Additional Rates

Rate Class

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.51

8.52

8.6

500.00$      

Daily Rental Fee 1,500.00$   

200.00$      

Daily Rental Fee 100.00$      

25.00$        

500.00$      

Daily Rental Fee 250.00$      

100.00$      

Gazebo (In-Town) Security Deposit 150.00$      

Daily Rental Fee 75.00$        

Per hour after 4 hours 25.00$        

Gazebo (Out of Town) Security Deposit 250.00$      

Rental Fee per Hour 125.00$      

150.00$      

85.00$        

25.00$        

Picnic Shelter (Out of Town) 250.00$      

300.00$      

100.00$      

Per hour after 4 hours

Daily Rental Fee

Per hour after 4 hours

Security Deposit

Per hour after 4 hours

Daily Rental Fee

Amphitheater (Out-of-Town Church)

Per hour after 4 hours

70%

Amphitheater

FACILITY RENTAL

Railroad Set by State Statute

Telephone Companies MASC Telecommunications

Amusement Machines, Coin 

Operated (Non-Payout)
$12.50 + $12.50/Machine

Billiard or Pool Rooms, All Types $50.00 + $5 or $12.50/Table

Business Licenses expire April 30th.  A 5% penalty accrues as of May 1st and each successive month thereafter.

1-2

2-3

3-4

Over 4

Security Deposit

Percent in Class Rate for Each Additional 

100%

90%

Amphitheater (In-Town Church)

Picnic Shelter (In-Town)

Security Deposit

Security Deposit

60%

Insurance Companies and Brokers MASC Insurance

Amusement Machines, Coin 

Operated (Except Gambling)
$12.50 + $12.50/Machine

Security Deposit

80%

Description Rate

Gross Income in $Millions

0-1

Town of Irmo Master Fee Schedule | 4



Rental Registration 250.00$      

500.00$      

25.00$        

300.00$      

100.00$      
Request to close, acquire or use a 

municipal street right-of-way

2% of monthly gross receipts on sale of 

prepared foods

Set-Off Debt Collection

OTHER CHARGES & FEES
1% of monthly gross receipts on sale of 

prepared foods
Richland County

Rental Registration Late Fee

Lexington County

Hospitality Tax

Replacement of Trees removed 

from Public Property

Town of Irmo Master Fee Schedule | 5



 

1 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  )   ORDINANCE 23 – 09 
) NONEXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT  

TOWN OF IRMO   )LUMOS FIBER OF SOUTH CAROLINA,  LLC.  
 

AN ORDINANCE TO GRANT LUMOS FIBER OF SOUTH CAROLINA, LLC, ITS 
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS THE RIGHT, POWER AND AUTHORITY TO 
CONSTRUCT, INSTALL, MAINTAIN, LOCATE, MOVE, OPERATE, PLACE, 
PROTECT, RECONSTRUCT, REINSTALL, RELOCATE, REMOVE, AND 
REPLACE FIBER OPTIC OR OTHER CABLE AND RELATED FACILITIES FOR 
THE PROVISION OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICE IN THE PUBLIC 
STREETS AND PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY IN THE TOWN OF IRMO. 

TOWN OF IRMO, SOUTH CAROLINA NONEXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE 
AGREEMENT WITH LUMOS FIBER OF SOUTH CAROLINA, LLC 

 
This Nonexclusive Franchise Agreement (hereinafter "Agreement") is made and 

entered into as of this ____ day of ________ 2023 (“Effective Date”), by and between the 
TOWN OF IRMO, a South Carolina municipal corporation (hereinafter "Town" or 
"Grantor") and LUMOS FIBER OF SOUTH CAROLINA, LLC, a South Carolina limited 
liability company, (hereinafter “LUMOS” or “GRANTEE”), having its principal office at 
4100 Mendenhall Oaks Pkwy, Suite 300, High Point, NC 27265.   

 
WHEREAS, GRANTEE is a limited liability company duly organized and existing 

under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia; and 
 
WHEREAS, GRANTEE desires to use and occupy the streets and public rights-of-

way (as hereinafter defined) located within the Town for the purposes of constructing, 
installing, and maintaining network facilities for telecommunications services within and 
through the Town; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Title V, Chapter 7, Section 30 of the South Carolina Code, 

and Title LVIII, Chapter 9, Section 2230 of the South Carolina Code, the Town has the 
authority to grant franchises and other authorizations for the use and occupancy of the streets 
and public rights-of-way; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town is agreeable to allowing GRANTEE to use the streets and 
public rights-of-way, subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth and subject 
to any lawful telecommunications regulatory ordinance that may be adopted by the Town 
in the future; and 
  



 

2 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants set 
forth herein, the Town and GRANTEE agree as follows:  
   

Section 1.  Grant of Authority.  (a)  Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the 
Town hereby grants to GRANTEE the non-exclusive right to construct, install, maintain, 
locate, move, operate, place, protect, reconstruct, reinstall, relocate, remove, and replace 
fiber optic or other cable and related facilities for the provision of telecommunications 
service in the public streets and public rights-of-way in the Town of Irmo. GRANTEE shall 
be solely responsible for obtaining any required consents from State agencies or private 
parties to the extent that its operations affect State or private property. It is expressly agreed 
that this Agreement does not give GRANTEE the right to occupy any public rights-of-way 
with permanent aboveground cabinets, pads, and other similar structures, except pursuant to 
the express approval of the Town pursuant to the applicable provisions of Chapter 2 of the 
Town Code or any successor ordinance, and that nothing in this Agreement shall be 
construed as consent by the Town for GRANTEE to provide cable service television service 
within the Town. 

 
(b) GRANTEE acknowledges that this grant of authority is for the benefit of 

GRANTEE only, and that GRANTEE is not authorized to lease, sublease, assign or 
otherwise allow other providers to use or occupy the public rights-of-way except in 
accordance with provisions of this Agreement. 

 
(c)    GRANTEE acknowledges that, to the extent allowed by State and Federal 

law, the Town has the authority, to adopt ordinances regulating the use of the public rights-
of-way, so long as such ordinances apply equally to all certificated providers of 
telecommunications services and are related to using the public streets and public rights-of-
way in the Town. GRANTEE agrees to be bound by all such future lawful ordinances so 
long as it operates telecommunication services or has property or equipment within the 
public streets or rights-of-way located in the Town. 

 
(d) This Agreement is not a grant by the Town of any fee simple or other  property 

interest except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement and is made subject and 
subordinate to the prior and continuing right of the Town of Irmo to use the public streets 
and public rights-of-way occupied by GRANTEE for the purpose of laying, installing, 
maintaining, repairing, protecting, replacing, and removing sanitary sewers, water mains, 
storm drains, gas mains, poles and other equipment  for  municipal uses and with the right 
of ingress and egress, along, above, over, across and in said public streets and public rights-
of-way. 

 



 

3 
 

(e) This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of its 
approval by the Town Council governing body; provided, however, that notwithstanding 
such approval, this Agreement shall not become effective until all required bonds, 
certificates of insurance and other instruments required by this Agreement have been filed 
with, and accepted and approved by the Town, which acceptance and approval shall not be 
unreasonably delayed, conditioned, or withheld. 

 
Section 2. Definitions. For the purpose of this Agreement, and the 

interpretation and enforcement thereof, the following words and phrases shall have the 
following meanings, unless the context of the sentence in which they are used shall 
indicate otherwise: 

 
 "Affiliate" means a person or entity that directly, or indirectly, through one or 

more intermediaries, owns, controls, is owned or controlled by, or is under common 
ownership or control with another person or entity. 

 
"Cable service" shall have the same meaning as in the 47 U.S. Code § 522 and 

shall be synonymous with the term "cable television service." 
 
"Town" means the Town of Irmo, South Carolina, and where appropriate to the 

context, its officers, agents, employees, and volunteers. 
 
"Town Attorney" means the Town Attorney of the Town of Irmo or his designee. 
 
“Town Council” means the Town Council of the Town of Irmo. 
 
"Town Engineer" means the Town Engineer or his designee. 
 
"Town Administrator" means the Town Administrator of the Town of Irmo or his 

designee. 
 
"Town Property" means and includes all real property owned by the Town, including 

all property held in a proprietary capacity by the Town. 
 
"Conduit" means any materials, such as metal or plastic pipe, that protects wire, 

cable, lines, fiber optic cable, or other technology for the provision of 
telecommunications service. 

 
 



 

4 
 

"Duct" means a pipe, tube, channel, or similar item for carrying wires, lines, cables, 
fiber optic cable, or other technology for the provision of telecommunications service. 

 
“Fiber optic or other cable and related facilities” means fiber optic cables or other 

cables, facilities, conduits, converters, splice boxes, handholds, manholes, vaults, equipment, 
drains, surface location markers, appurtenances and related facilities located or to be located 
by GRANTEE in the public streets or rights-of-way of the Town used or useful for the 
transmission of telecommunications services. 

 
"GRANTEE" or "Lumos" means Lumos Fiber of South Carolina, LLC. 
 
"Grantor" means the Town of Irmo. 
 
"Public streets and public rights-of-way" or “public ways” include the surface of, 

and the space above and below, any public street, road, highway, avenue, sidewalk, way, 
bridge, viaduct, alley or other public right-of-way, including unimproved surfaces, now 
or hereafter held by the Town for the purpose of public travel, communications, alarm, 
street lighting, power distribution, water or sewer service or other public use, whether 
present or future, to the extent of the Town's right, title, interest or authority to grant a 
franchise to occupy and use such streets and easements for the purpose of providing 
telecommunications services. 

 
“Public works project or public improvements” include, without limitation, the 

construction, realignment, paving or repaving, or other work on any public street or public 
right-of-way, change of grade or alignment of any public street or public right-of-way, the 
construction or reconstruction of any water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, force main, 
drainage or communications facility of the Town. 

 
“Telecommunications facilities” means the plant, equipment, and property, 

including, but not limited to, the poles, pipes, mains, conduits, ducts, fiber optic and 
other cables, circuits, and wires, and any other equipment and property used by 
GRANTEE to provide telecommunications service. 

 
"Telecommunications service" means the providing or offering for rent, sale, or 

lease, or in exchange for other value received, the transmittal of signals, including but 
not limited to, voice, data, image, graphic or video or other programming information, 
except cable television service, between or among points by wire, lines, cable, fiber 
optics, circuits, laser or infrared, microwave, radio, satellite, or other 
telecommunications facilities, but not including cable television service. 



 

5 
 

 
Section 3.  Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall be for an initial 

term of twenty years, commencing on the Effective Date (“Initial Term”).  Unless either 
party gives ninety (90) days written notice of its intention to terminate the Agreement prior 
to the end of the Initial Term, the Agreement shall thereafter automatically renew for up to 
three (3) additional ten (10) year terms, for a maximum of fifty (50) years (each a “Renewal 
Term”); however, such renewal shall not automatically occur if a material, uncured breach 
has not been remedied and the non-breaching party provides ninety (90) days written notice 
prior to the end of a Renewal Term.  Upon termination of this Agreement as herein provided, 
and unless the parties are in active good faith negotiation of a replacement agreement or 
otherwise agree in writing to an extension, GRANTEE shall be prohibited from further 
access to the public rights-of-way in the Town of Irmo. 

 
Section 4.  Compliance With Applicable Law.  GRANTEE shall at all times 

during the term of this Agreement, including any renewal period, comply with all 
applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, and regulations.  Expressly reserved 
to the Town is the right to adopt, in addition to the provisions of this Agreement and 
existing laws, such additional ordinances and regulations as are necessary for the lawful 
exercise of its police power for the benefit and safety of the public. 

Section 5. Construction; Location or Relocation of Facilities. All GRANTEE 
facilities shall be constructed, installed, and located according to the terms and 
conditions contained herein, unless otherwise specified by the Town. 

5.1. Whenever all existing electric utilities, cable facilities or telecommunications 
facilities are located underground within a particular segment of a street or public right-
of-way of the Town, GRANTEE shall also install its telecommunications f a c i l i t i e s  
underground. 

 
5.2. Whenever existing overhead electric utilities, cable facilities or 

telecommunications facilities are relocated underground within a particular segment of a 
street or public right-of-way of the Town, GRANTEE shall relocate its facilities 
underground within a  r e a s o n a b l e  a m o u n t  o f  t i m e  a f t e r  notification by the 
Town that such facilities must be relocated. Absent extraordinary circumstances or undue 
hardship as reasonably determined by the Town, such relocation shall be made 
concurrently to minimize the disruption of the public streets or public rights-of-way.  

 
5.3.  GRANTEE shall obtain all required permits for the construction or installation 

of its facilities as required in this Agreement, provided, however, that nothing in this 
Agreement shall prohibit the Town and GRANTEE from agreeing to an alternative plan 



 

6 
 

to review permit and construction procedures, provided such alternative procedures 
provide substantially equivalent safeguards for responsible construction practices.  

 
5.4. In the performance and exercise of its rights and obligations under this 

Agreement, GRANTEE shall not interfere in any manner with the existence and operation 
of any public street and public or private right-of-way, sanitary sewer, water line, storm drain 
gas main, pole, overhead or underground electric and telephone wires, television cables, 
public works, facilities of other telecommunication providers, or Town Property, without the 
prior approval of the Town. 

 
5.5. Except as may be expressly provided herein, nothing in this Agreement shall be 

construed to abrogate or limit the right of the Town of Irmo to perform any public works or 
public improvements. If any facilities of GRANTEE interfere with the construction, 
operation, maintenance, repair or removal of such public works or public improvements, 
within ninety (90) days after written notice by the Town of Irmo (or such other period of 
time set forth in Section 5.7 or as may be agreed upon in writing by the Town of Irmo and 
GRANTEE), GRANTEE shall, at its own expense protect, alter, remove or relocate facilities, 
as directed by the Town Administrator or Town Engineer. If GRANTEE fails to so protect, 
alter, remove, or relocate equipment within such period, the Town may break through, 
remove, alter, or relocate the facilities of GRANTEE without any liability to Town, and 
GRANTEE shall pay to the Town the costs incurred in connection with such breaking 
through, removal, alteration, or relocation.  GRANTEE shall also reimburse the Town for or 
bear any additional cost actually incurred by the Town as a result of GRANTEE’s failure to 
comply with the Town’s request to protect, alter or remove equipment under this Agreement. 
The Town may collect such costs, and any reasonable expenses and attorney fees incurred 
in collecting such costs, as debts owed to the Town, by bringing action in any court of 
competent jurisdiction or exercising the Town’s rights to draw on bonds or in any other 
lawful manner, individually or in combination. 

   
5.6. The Town retains the right and privilege to cut or move any 

telecommunications facilities located within the public ways or other areas of the Town as 
the Town may determine to be necessary, appropriate, or useful in response to any life-
threatening emergency. The Town will endeavor to provide prior notice to GRANTEE of 
such emergencies which may impact its telecommunications facilities. If Town is unable to 
provide prior notice of the life-threatening emergency as described above, Town shall be 
required to notify GRANTEE within twenty-four (24) hours of the occurrence of such 
emergency.  

 
 



 

7 
 

5.7. The facilities of GRANTEE shall be located so as not to interfere with 
public safety or, to the extent possible, with the convenience of persons using the public 
streets or rights-of-way. GRANTEE shall construct, maintain, and locate its 
telecommunications system so as not to interfere with the construction, location and 
maintenance of sewer, water, drainage, electrical, signal, and fiber optic facilities of the 
Town. 

5.8. The Town shall have the right to specifically designate the location of the 
facilities of GRANTEE with reference to sewer and water mains, drainage facilities, fiber 
optic cable, signal poles and lines and similar services, other facilities, such as public 
telephone utilities, public electric utilities, cable television facilities, and railway, 
communication, and power lines, in such a manner as to protect the public safety and 
public and private property. Failure by the Town to designate t h e  l o c a t i on  o f  
GRANTEE’s facilities  shall not relieve GRANTEE of its responsibilities in matters of 
public safety, as provided in this Agreement.  

 
5.9. Except in the cases of emergencies, GRANTEE shall not move, alter, 

change, or extend any of its telecommunications system in any public street or public right-
of-way unless prior written notice of its intention to do so is given to the Town 
Administrator and permission in writing to do so is granted, or such requirement is 
waived, by the Town Administrator.  The Town Administrator shall either approve or 
deny GRANTEE’s request to relocate its facilities within five (5) days of receipt of 
GRANTEE’s request. S u c h  p e r m i s s i o n  s h a l l  n o t  b e  u n r e a s o n a b l y  
w i t h h e l d  b y  t h e  T o w n  A d m i n i s t r a t o r  a n d  shall be conditioned upon 
compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, with such other terms and 
conditions as will preserve, protect and promote the safety of the public using the public 
ways, and as will prevent undue interference with or obstruction of the use of the public 
ways by the public, the Town or by any other public utility, public service corporation or 
cable operator for their respective purposes and functions. Such work by GRANTEE shall 
also be coordinated with the Town's annual paving program through the Office of the 
Town Engineer. 

 
5.10. GRANTEE shall not open, disturb or obstruct, at any time, any more of 

the public streets or public rights-of-way than is reasonably necessary to enable it to 
proceed in laying or repairing its telecommunications system.  GRANTEE shall not 
permit any public street or public right-of-way so opened, disturbed, or obstructed by it 
to remain open, disturbed, or obstructed for a longer period of time than shall be 
reasonably necessary. In all cases where any public street or public right-of-way is 
excavated, disturbed, or obstructed by GRANTEE, GRANTEE shall take all precautions 



 

8 
 

necessary or proper for the protection of the public and shall maintain adequate warning 
signs, barricades, signals, and other devices necessary or proper to adequately give 
notice, protection, and warning to, the public of the existence of all actual conditions 
present. 

 
5.11. After the installation, removal, relocation, construction, or maintenance 

of the fiber optic or other cable and related facilities is completed, GRANTEE shall, at 
its own cost, repair and return the public streets or public rights-of-way to a minimum 
of the same or similar condition existing before such installation, removal, relocation, 
construction, or maintenance, in a manner as may be reasonably specified by the Town 
and to the reasonable satisfaction of the Town. GRANTEE shall be responsible for 
damage to Town street pavements, existing utilities, curbs, gutters, and sidewalks due 
to GRANTEE’s installation, construction, maintenance, repair, or removal of its 
telecommunications facilities in the public streets, public rights-of-way, and shall repair, 
replace, and restore in kind, the said damaged property at its sole expense. Upon failure 
of GRANTEE to repair, replace and restore said damaged property, in a manner as may 
be reasonably specified by the Town and to the reasonable satisfaction of the Town, 
after sixty (60) days’ notice in writing shall have been given by the Town, the Town 
may cause such necessary repairs to be made and may collect the costs incurred from 
GRANTEE, including but not limited to, exercising the Town’s rights to draw on bonds. 
The Town may collect such costs, and any expenses and attorney fees incurred in 
collecting such costs, as debts owed to the Town, by bringing an action in any court of 
competent jurisdiction or in any manner allowed by law.  

 
5.12. Neither GRANTEE, nor any person acting on GRANTEE’s behalf, shall 

take any action or permit any action to be done which may impair or damage any Town 
Property more than is reasonably necessary to enable it to install or repair its 
telecommunications system, including, but not limited to, any public street, public right-
of-way or other property located in, on or adjacent thereto. 

 
5.13. In the event of an unexpected repair or emergency, GRANTEE may 

commence such repair and emergency response work as required under the 
circumstances, provided GRANTEE shall notify the Town as promptly as possible, 
before such repair or emergency work is started or as soon thereafter as possible if 
advance notice is not practicable. 

 
5.14. GRANTEE shall maintain its facilities in good and safe condition and in a 

manner that complies with all applicable federal, state and local requirements, laws, 
ordinances, and regulations. 



 

9 
 

 (a) GRANTEE shall at all times keep and maintain its facilities free of all 
graffiti located thereon.  If the Town notifies the GRANTEE that graffiti is located on 
the facilities, GRANTEE shall remove the graffiti within (30) days of written notice.  If 
GRANTEE defaults in its obligations hereunder, the Town may perform the necessary 
work and charge the reasonable cost therof to and collect the same from the GRANTEE. 

 (b) GRANTEE shall keep facilities free of debris and anything dangerous 
and/or noxious which would create a hazard or undue vibration, heat, noise or 
interference. 

 
5.15.  GRANTEE shall at all times employ a high standard of care and shall install 

and maintain and use approved methods and devices for preventing failure or accidents 
which are likely to cause damages, injuries, or nuisances to the public. 

 
5.16. GRANTEE shall obtain all required permits from the Town and any other 

governmental entity having jurisdiction prior to commencing work of any nature and 
shall comply with all terms and conditions of any such permit. GRANTEE shall furnish 
detailed plans of the work and other required information. GRANTEE shall comply with 
all applicable ordinances and permitting requirements.  The other terms of this 
Agreement notwithstanding, GRANTEE is exempt from all permit fee requirements 
under current law and under any successor laws. 

 
A single permit may be issued for multiple excavations to be made in public 

streets and rights-of-way. Exceptions to the requirement for a written permit may be 
allowed in cases of emergencies involving public safety or restoration of service. In the 
case of emergency excavations made in a public street or public right-of-way without a 
permit, GRANTEE shall make a report of each such excavation to the Town within two 
(2) working days. Any permit application and inspection related to repair of excavations 
shall be promptly acted upon by the Town so as not to unreasonably delay GRANTEE 
in efficiently discharging its public service obligation and in any event shall be granted 
or denied within thirty (30) days from submission and, if denied, accompanied by a 
written explanation of the reasons the permit was denied and the actions required to cure 
the denial. 

 
5.17. (a) Promptly after installation, repair or extension of the 

telecommunications system or any portion thereof or any pavement cut by GRANTEE 
in any public way of the Town, the incidental trenches or excavations shall be refilled 
by GRANTEE in a manner acceptable to the Town Administrator. Pavement, sidewalks, 
curbs, gutters or any other portions of public ways damaged, disturbed or destroyed by 
such work shall be promptly restored and replaced with like materials to their former 



 

10 
 

condition by GRANTEE at its own expense; however, where it is necessary, and if 
authorized by the Town, in order to achieve the former conditions, GRANTEE shall use 
materials whose type, specification and quantities exceed or are different from those used 
in the installation, then GRANTEE at its own expense shall provide such different 
materials. Where a cut or disturbance is made in a section of sidewalk or paving, rather 
than replacing only the area actually cut, GRANTEE shall replace the full width of the 
existing sidewalk or appropriate sections of paving as determined by the Town Engineer 
and the full length of the section or sections cut, a section being defined as that area 
marked by expansion joints or scoring or as determined by the Town Engineer. 
GRANTEE shall maintain, repair, and keep in good condition for a period of one (1) 
year following such disturbance all portions of public ways disturbed by GRANTEE, 
provided such maintenance and repair shall be necessary because of defective 
workmanship or materials supplied by GRANTEE. 

 
(b) All trees, landscaping and grounds removed, damaged, or disturbed as a 

result of the construction, installation maintenance, repair or replacement of 
telecommunications facilities shall be replaced or restored, as nearly as may be practicable, 
to the condition existing prior to performance of work. All restoration work within the 
public ways or other areas shall be done in accordance with landscape plans approved by 
the Town. 

 
5.18. (a) GRANTEE shall promptly remove or correct any obstruction, damage, 

or defect in any public street or public right-of-way caused by GRANTEE in the 
installation, operation, maintenance, or extension of GRANTEE’s telecommunications 
system. Any such obstruction, damage, or defect which is not promptly removed, 
repaired, or corrected by GRANTEE after thirty (30) days’ notice to do so, given by the 
Town to GRANTEE, may be removed or corrected by the Town, and the cost thereof 
shall be charged against GRANTEE and payable on demand. Any expense, cost, or 
damages incurred for repair, relocation, or replacement to Town water, sanitary sewer, 
storm sewer, storm drainage, telecommunication facilities or other property resulting 
from construction or maintenance of GRANTEE telecommunications system shall be 
borne by GRANTEE and any and all expense and cost incurred in connection therewith 
by the Town shall be fully reimbursed by GRANTEE to the Town. 

 
(b) If weather or other conditions do not permit the complete restoration 

required by this Section, GRANTEE shall temporarily restore the affected property. 
Such temporary restoration shall be at GRANTEE’s sole expense and GRANTEE shall 
only be required to make reasonable, temporary restorations based on the conditions. 
GRANTEE shall promptly undertake and complete the required permanent restoration 



 

11 
 

when the weather or other conditions no longer prevent such permanent restoration. 
 
(c) GRANTEE or other person acting on its behalf shall use suitable barricades, 

flags, flaggers, lights, flares and other measures as required for the safety of all members of 
the general public and to prevent injury or damage to any person, vehicle or property by 
reason of such work in or affecting such ways or property and shall comply with all federal, 
state, and local laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the flagging requirements 
of the South Carolina Department of Transportation. 

 
5.19.  Except in the case of the Town's  negligence or intentional or willful 

misconduct, the Town, its officers, agents, or employees, shall not be liable for any damage 
to or loss of any of GRANTEE’s telecommunications services or telecommunications 
facilities within the public ways or any other areas of the Town as a result of or in connection 
with any public works, public improvements, construction, excavation, grading, filling, or 
work or activity or lack of any activity of any kind by or on behalf of the Town. 

 
5.20.  GRANTEE shall cooperate with the Town in coordinating its construction 

activities as follows: 
 
(a) GRANTEE shall provide the Town with a schedule of its proposed 

construction activities prior to commencing any expansion of its backbone system; 
 
(b) Upon request, GRANTEE shall meet with the Town and other users of the 

public ways to coordinate construction in the public ways; and 
 
(c) All construction locations, activities and schedules shall be coordinated, as 

directed by the Town Engineer, to minimize public inconvenience, disruption, or damages. 
GRANTEE shall submit a written construction schedule to the Town Engineer at least ten 
(10) working days before commencing any work in or about the public streets or public 
rights-of-way. GRANTEE shall further notify the Town Engineer not less than five (5) 
working days in advance of such excavation or work and shall comply with the provisions 
of the South Carolina Underground Facility Damage Prevention Act, South Carolina Title 
58, Chapter 36. 

 
Section 6. Mapping.  (a)  GRANTEE shall maintain an accurate map of its 

telecommunications facilities in the Town. GRANTEE shall provide the Town with "as 
built" drawings and an accurate map or maps showing the location of its facilities, including 
pole lines and conduit lines and any other facilities requested by the Town, to include a 
digitized map(s) in both printed and electronic form. GRANTEE shall, upon request, provide 



 

12 
 

updated maps annually of telecommunications facilities in the Town.  
 
(b) If any of the requested information of GRANTEE in this Agreement is 

considered proprietary, confidential or a trade secret, GRANTEE will notify the Town of 
this opinion and the Town will keep such information confidential to the extent permitted by 
the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (South Carolina Code Title 30 Chapter 4) 
or other any successor statute or law. As for new installations, after the effective date of this 
franchise, GRANTEE shall submit the proposed Mapping of its plans for new construction 
to the Town prior to any construction. As-built drawings of any new construction of facilities 
shall be furnished to the Town within sixty (60) days of completion of such construction. All 
as-built maps and drawings shall be drawn to scale and reference to a physical Town 
benchmark to the extent the physical benchmark is in reasonable proximity to GRANTEE 
new installation. All mapping shall be provided in a format compatible to the Town’s present 
and future mapping systems. Alternatively, GRANTEE will pay for the cost of making the 
mapping compatible. 

 
(c) Prior to its installation of any Telecommunications facilities in the public 

streets or public rights-of-way and after GRANTEE provides the Town with its proposed 
plans for the Telecommunications facilities, the Town may in its reasonable discretion 
designate certain locations to be excluded from use by GRANTEE for its 
Telecommunications facilities, including, but not limited to, ornamental or similar specially 
designed streets lights or other facilities or locations which, in the reasonable judgment of 
the Town Engineer, do not have electrical service adequate for or appropriate for 
GRANTEE’s facilities or cannot safely bear the weight or wind loading thereof, or any other 
facility or location that in the reasonable judgment of the Town Engineer is incompatible 
with the proposed Telecommunications facilities or would be rendered unsafe or unstable by 
the installation.  The Town Engineer may further exclude certain other facilities that have 
been designated or planned for other use or are not otherwise proprietary, legal, or other 
limitations or restrictions as may be reasonably determined by the Town. In the event such 
exclusions conflict with reasonable requirements of GRANTEE, the Town will cooperate in 
good faith with GRANTEE to attempt to find suitable alternatives, if available, provided that 
the Town shall not be required to incur financial costs nor require the Town to acquire new 
locations for GRANTEE. GRANTEE shall, prior to any excavation or installation within the 
public streets or public rights-of-way, provide sufficient notification and joint installation 
opportunity on a shared cost basis to potential users of the public streets or public rights-of-
way as may be provided for by a separate Town policy. Such notification and adopted 
policies shall be designed to maximize co-location of providers to minimize the disturbance 
to the public streets or public rights-of-way and maximize its useable capacity.  

 



 

13 
 

Section 7.  Insurance Requirements.  At all times during the term of this 
Agreement and any renewal period, GRANTEE shall, at its expense, maintain the following 
insurance policies. Any required insurance shall be in a form and with an insurance company 
authorized to do business in South Carolina and have a rating of no less than A- VII by A.M. 
Best Co.  

 
(a) Commercial General Liability.   Commercial General Liability insurance 

coverage on an occurrence basis insuring against all claims, loss, cost, damage, expense, 
or liability from loss of life or damage or injury to persons or property arising out of 
any of the work or activity under or by virtue of this Agreement. The minimum limit of 
liability for such coverage shall be Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) combined single 
limit for any one occurrence. However, the parties acknowledge that GRANTEE may 
meet the policy limit in this section by combination of GRANTEE's General Commercial 
Liability Policy and GRANTEE's Umbrella or Excess Liability Policy. 

 
(b) Contractual Liability. Broad form Contractual Liability insurance, including 

the indemnification obligations of GRANTEE set forth in this Agreement. 
 
(c) Workers' Compensation. Workers' Compensation insurance covering 

GRANTEE’s statutory obligation under the laws of South Carolina and Employer's 
Liability insurance for all its employees engaged in work under this Agreement. 

 
(d) Automobile Liability. Automobile Liability insurance having minimum 

limits of liability of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit applicable to 
owned or non-owned vehicles used in the performance of any work under this 
Agreement. 

 
(e) Pollution Liability Insurance. GRANTEE shall maintain during the life of 

this Agreement Pollution Liability Insurance in the amount of One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) for each occurrence. Coverage shall be provided for bodily injury and 
property damage resulting from pollutants which are discharged suddenly and accidentally. 
Such insurance shall also provide coverage for cleanup costs. 

 
(f) Umbrella Coverage. The insurance coverages and amounts set forth in this 

Section may be met by an umbrella liability policy following the form of the underlying 
primary coverage in a minimum amount of Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000).  

 
(g) Prior to commencing construction pursuant to this Agreement or within ten 

(10) days after the granting of the franchise contemplated by this Agreement, whichever is 



 

14 
 

sooner, GRANTEE shall provide the Town with a memorandum certificate or certificates of 
insurance, showing the type, amount, effective dates, and date of expiration of the policies, 
and thereafter prior to the expiration of any such policy or change in the amount or 
conditions, of coverage. Such certificate or certificates and evidence of insurance shall 
include the Town, its officers, agents, and employees as additional insureds. GRANTEE 
shall obtain a written obligation on the part of each insurance company to notify GRANTEE at 
least thirty (30) days before cancellation or a material change of any such insurance. Upon receipt 
of such notice from GRANTEE's insurance company, GRANTEE will immediately notify the 
Town of Irmo of any of the required coverages that are not replaced. 

 
Section 8. Surety. 
 
(a) Within ten (10) days after the Effective Date of this Agreement, and prior to 

the commencement of any construction by GRANTEE, GRANTEE shall furnish and file 
with the Town an irrevocable bond, in a form and by a surety authorized to do business 
in South Carolina, in the amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) securing its faithful 
performance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  GRANTEE shall maintain 
such bond for the duration of this Agreement, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by 
the Town.  Failure to maintain the bond shall be deemed a material default by GRANTEE 
of this Agreement.  

 
The bond shall guarantee GRANTEE’s faithful performance of the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement, including, but not limited to: (1) the timely completion of 
construction; (2) compliance with applicable plans, permits, technical  codes and 
standards; (3) proper location of the facilities as speci fied by the Town; (4) restoration of 
the public ways and other property affected by the construction as required by this 
Agreement; (5) the submission of "as-built" drawings  after completion of the work  
as required by this Agreement; (6) timely payment and satisfaction  of all claims, 
demands or liens for labor, material or services provided in connection with the work; 
and (7) the payment by GRANTEE of all lawful liens, taxes, damages, claims, costs or 
expenses which the Town has been compelled to pay or has incurred by reason of any act or 
default of GRANTEE under this Agreement and all other payments due the Town from 
GRANTEE pursuant to this Agreement.   

 
(b) Whenever the Town determines that GRANTEE has violated one (1) or more 

terms, conditions, or provisions of this Agreement for which relief is available against the 
bond, a written notice shall be given to GRANTEE.  The written notice shall describe in 
reasonable detail the violation so as to afford GRANTEE an opportunity to remedy the 
violation.  GRANTEE shall have thirty (30) days subsequent to receipt of the notice in 



 

15 
 

which to correct the violation before the Town may make demand upon the bond. Failure 
to maintain the bond shall be a martial default under this Agreement. 

 
(c) Such bond shall be in addition to any performance, defect bond, or other 

surety required by the Town in connection with the issuance of any construction or any 
successor ordinance. 

 
Section 9.  Indemnification.    GRANTEE agrees to indemnify, defend and hold 

harmless the Town, its officers, employees and agents from and against all claims, demands, 
losses, damages, liabilities, fines, and penalties, and all costs and expenses incurred in 
connection therewith, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of 
defense (collectively, the losses), arising out of any breach by GRANTEE of the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, except to the extent  proximately caused by the negligence or 
willful misconduct  of the Town of Irmo, its officers, employees and agents.  In addition, 
GRANTEE shall protect, indemnify, and hold harmless the Town, its officers, agents, 
and employees, from any and all demands for fees, claims, suits, actions, causes of 
action, or judgments based on the alleged infringement or violation of any patent, 
invention, article, arrangement, or other apparatus that may be used in the performance 
of any work or activity arising out of the use of any Telecommunication facilities or 
the provision of Telecommunication service, except to the extent proximately caused by 
the negligence or willful misconduct of the Town of Irmo, its officers, employees or agents. 

Town agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the GRANTEE, along with all 
predecessors, successors, indirect and direct parents, indirect and direct subsidiary companies, 
affiliates, assigns, and all employees, directors, officers, and agents of such entities, from and 
against all claims, demands, losses, damages, liabilities, fines, and penalties, and all costs 
and expenses incurred in connection therewith, including, without limitation, reasonable 
attorney’s fees and costs of defense (collectively, the losses), arising out of any breach by 
Town of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, except to the extent  proximately caused 
by the negligence or willful misconduct  of the GRANTEE, its officers, employees and 
agents.   

 
Section 10.   Hazardous Substances.  In its performance of this Agreement, 

GRANTEE shall not transport, dispose of, or release any hazardous substance, material, or 
waste, except as necessary in performance of its work under this Agreement, and in any 
event GRANTEE shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, rules, regulations, and 
ordinances controlling air, water, noise, solid wastes, and other pollution, and relating to the 
storage, transport, release, or disposal of hazardous material, substances, or waste. 
Regardless of the Town's acquiescence, GRANTEE shall indemnify and hold the Town, its 
officers, agents, employees, and volunteers harmless from all costs, claims, damages, causes 



 

16 
 

of action, liabilities, fines, or penalties, including reasonable attorney's fees, resulting from 
GRANTEE's violation of this section and agrees to reimburse Town for all costs and 
expenses incurred by the Town in eliminating or remedying such violations. GRANTEE also 
agrees to reimburse the Town and hold the Town, its officers, agents, employees, and 
volunteers harmless from any and all costs, expenses, attorney’s fees and all penalties or 
civil judgments obtained against any of them as a result of GRANTEE's use or release of 
any hazardous substance or waste onto the ground, or into the water or air from, near or upon 
the Town's premises. For purposes of this Section, the following definitions shall apply: 

 
"Hazardous Substances" means asbestos and any and all pollutants, dangerous 

substances, toxic substances, hazardous wastes, hazardous materials and hazardous 
substances as referenced or defined in, or pursuant to, any federal, state, local or other 
applicable environmental law, statute, ordinance, rule, order, regulation or standard in effect 
on the date hereof including, without limitation, the Resource Conservation and Recovery 
Act (42 U.S.C 6901, et seq.), as amended, the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide 
Act (7 U.S.C. 136, et seq.), as amended, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation and Liability Act (42 U.S.C. 9601, et seq.), as amended, and the Toxic 
Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. 2601, et seq.), as amended. 

 
As used in this Section, “release” includes the placing, releasing, depositing, 

spilling, leaking, pumping, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, 
disposing, or dumping of any substance. 

Section 11. Fees 

(1) In consideration of the grant of authority to utilize the streets and public 
places of the Town for the provision of Telecommunications Service, and in accordance with 
Applicable Law and ordinances, with the exception of business license taxes, which shall 
still be required, GRANTEE shall be exempt from all franchise fee or other administrative 
fee requirements as are presently permitted by Article 20 of Chapter 9 of Title 58 of the 1976 
Code of Laws of South Carolina, as enacted in 1999, and any successor laws that may be 
enacted by the Town. GRANTEE shall pay all such ad valorem taxes, sales taxes, or other 
taxes as may now or hereafter be lawfully imposed on other businesses within the Town. In 
the event that Article 20 of Chapter 9 of Title 58 of the 1976 Code of Laws of South Carolina, 
as enacted in 1999, or other laws governing franchise fees and/or other administrative fees 
with respect to Telecommunications Service shall be substantially modified by subsequent 
legislation or court decision, the provisions herein contained shall survive and no new fees 
shall be levied against GRANTEE. GRANTEE will be free to challenge any fee structure 
not in compliance with this Agreement. 



 

17 
 

(2) For the use of the Right of Way, as defined by S.C. Code Section 58-9-2230, 
to provide Telecommunications Service, GRANTEE shall provide public WiFi service in 
the Town’s public parks, as agreed between the Parties, in lieu of any permit fee, 
encroachment fee, degradation fee, or other fee assessed on a Telecommunications Service 
provider for use of the Right of Way to the extent required by S.C. Code Section 58-9-2230.  

Section 12.  Public Benefits. GRANTEE shall offer free, high-speed, state-of-the-
art, fiber-fed WiFi service in those Town parks as mutually agreed between GRANTEE and 
Town. Such service shall be accessible to Town residents and visitors, subject to 
GRANTEE’S terms of service and acceptable use policy. GRANTEE shall provide Town 
with an updated copy of GRANTEE’S terms of service and acceptable use policy whenever 
there are changes. WiFi service will be installed and available no later than six (6) months 
after the telecommunications facilities pass each mutually agreed park and will continue 
throughout the term of this Agreement. 

Section 13.  General  provisions.   

(a) Authority.  GRANTEE warrants and represents that it has obtained all 
necessary and appropriate authority and approval from all applicable federal and state 
agencies or authorities to provide all telecommunications facilities and services it intends 
to provide within the Town, and upon request by the Town will provide evidence of such 
authority. 

 

(b) Other remedies. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as waiving or 
limiting any rights or remedies that the Town or GRANTEE may have, at law or in equity, 
for enforcement of this Agreement. 

 
(c) Severability.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or other 

portion of this Agreement, or its application to any person, is, for any reason, declared 
invalid, in whole or in part by any court or agency of competent jurisdiction, said decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions hereof. 

(d) Nonenforcement. Neither party shall be excused from complying with any of 
the provisions of this Agreement by any failure of the other party, upon any one or more 
occasions, to insist upon strict performance of this Agreement or to seek the other party’s 
compliance with any one or more of such terms or conditions of this Agreement. 

 
(e) Conflicts of law.  If there is a conflict between the provisions of this 

Agreement and any law, whether federal, state, or Town, including all future laws and 



 

18 
 

ordinances, the law and conflicting Agreement provision will, to the extent reasonably 
possible, be construed so as to be consistent with each other and if such construction is not 
reasonably possible, the conflicting provision of this Agreement shall be deemed superseded 
by such law and have no effect, notwithstanding the contract clause of the United States 
Constitution. 

 
(f) Controlling law and venue.  By virtue of entering into this Agreement, 

GRANTEE agrees and submits itself to a court of competent jurisdiction in the Town of 
Irmo, South Carolina or in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina, 
and further agrees that this Agreement is controlled by the laws of South Carolina or any 
applicable federal laws and that all claims, disputes and other matters shall be decided only 
by such court according to the laws of South Carolina or any applicable federal laws or by 
any regulatory body with jurisdiction, including the Federal Communications Commission. 

 
(g) Captions.  The section captions and headings in this Agreement are for 

convenience and reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or 
interpretation of this Agreement. 

 
(h) Nondiscrimination.  During the performance of this Agreement, GRANTEE 

agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment on the 
basis of race, religion, color, sex, handicap, or national origin. GRANTEE agrees to post in 
conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices setting 
forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. GRANTEE, in all solicitations or 
advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of GRANTEE, will state that 
GRANTEE is an equal opportunity employer. Notices, advertisements, and solicitations 
placed in accordance with federal law, rule, or regulation shall be deemed sufficient for the 
purpose of meeting the requirements herein. 

 
(i) Notices.   (a) Notices given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and 

addressed as follows:   
 
To the Town:  Town Administrator 

Town of Irmo 
7300 Woodrow Street 
P.O. Box 406 
Irmo, South Carolina 29063 

 
With a Copy to: Town Attorney 

Town of Irmo 
7300 Woodrow Street 



 

19 
 

P.O. Box 406 
Irmo, South Carolina 29063 

 
To GRANTEE:   Chief Network Officer 
   4100 Mendenhall Oaks Pkwy, Suite 300 
   High Point, NC 27265 
 
With a Copy to: General Counsel 
   4100 Mendenhall Oaks Pkwy, Suite 300 
   High Point, NC 27265 
 

(b) Either party may change the address at which it will receive notices by providing 
written notice of the change to the other party.   

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement. 
 

 
 

LUMOS FIBER OF SOUTH CAROLINA, LLC 
A limited liability company 
 
By: _____________________________________   
 
Name:___________________________________ 
 
Title:____________________________________ 

 
 
State of __________________ 
Town/County of ________________, TO WIT; 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of 
____________, 2023, by _________________________________________________, of 
Lumos Fiber of South Carolina, LLC, a _________________ company. 
 

_____________________________ 
Notary Public 

 
My commission expires:  ____________________ 
My registration number:  ____________________ 
 
 
 



 

20 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this ______day of _______, 2023 
TOWN OF IRMO 

     a South Carolina municipal corporation 
 

By:_______________________________ 
           Barry A. Walker, Sr. Mayor of the Town of Irmo 
            

(SEAL) 
 
ATTEST:  ___________________________ 
       Renee Caviness, Town Clerk 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
TOWN OF IRMO, to-wit: 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

____________, 2023, by Barry A. Walker, Sr., Mayor of the Town of Irmo, on its behalf.  
He is personally known to me. 

_____________________________ 
Notary Public 

My commission expires:  ____________________ 
My registration number:  ____________________ 
 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
TOWN OF IRMO, to-wit: 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 
____________, 2023, by Renee Caviness, Town Clerk of the Town of Irmo, on its behalf.  
She is personally known to me. 

_____________________________ 
Notary Public 

 
My commission expires:  ____________________ 
My registration number:  ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

21 
 

 
 
 
Approved as to Content:    Approved as to Legal Sufficiency: 
 
             
Information Technology                          Town Attorney’s Office 
Department 

 
  
 

Approved as to Risk Management: 
 
  ___________________________ 
  Risk Manager 
 
 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ORDINANCE 23 – 10 
) 

TOWN OF IRMO   ) 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND APPENDIX A – ZONING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT; 
ARTICLE 3 – ZONING REGULATIONS FOR USE OF LOTS; SECTION 3-1; TABLE 2; 

SCHEDULE OF LOT AREA, YARD, SETBACK, HEIGHT, DENISTY, AND IMPERVIOUS 
SURFACE REQUIREMENTS;  

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Irmo desires to strengthen its Code of Zoning and Land Development 
Regulation, amending said Code to address noted errors, omissions, vague language, and add 
appropriate standards; and 

WHEREAS, the following text amendment to the Town of Irmo Code of Zoning and Land 
Development Regulations has been proposed through collaboration with the Planning Commission; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, at their April 25, 2023, meeting, voted to recommend 
approval of this amendment, as attached. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and Town Council of the 
Town of Irmo, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled on this 27th day of June, 2023, that the 
Town of Irmo Code of Zoning and Land Development Regulations is hereby amended. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 27th day of June, 2023. 

      
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Barry A. Walker, Sr., Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________  
Renee Caviness, Municipal Clerk  
 
1st Reading: May 16, 2023 
2nd Reading: June 27, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE 23 – 10 

Article 3 Zoning Regulations for Use of Lots 
 

Section 3-1 Schedule of Lot Area, Yard, Setback, Height, Density, and Impervious Surface 
Requirements 

 
Table 2 

Schedule of Lot Area, Yard, Setback, Height, Density, Floor Area, and Impervious Surface 
Requirements, by District 

 
 FA RS RG CO CN CG LM 
Minimum lot Size (square feet) 43,560  (D) (E) 6,000 6,000 6,000 NA 
Width at front buildable line (feet) 150 70 60 60 60 60 60 

Minimum yard & building setback in feet (F) 
Front (A)  

Major street – multi-lane (refer to 
major street definition) 

25 25 25 25 25 25 25 

Major street - two lane 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 
Minor street (refer to definition) 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 

Side  

Residential 10 5 5 5 (F) (F) NA 
Non-residential 40 40 40 5 (F) (F) (F) 

Rear  

Residential 30 20 20 15 15 15 NA 
Non-residential 50 50 50 15 15 15 15 

Maximum height (ft.) (B) 40 40 40 (G) (G) (G) (G) 
Maximum floor area ratio: 

Non-residential uses (C) NA 0.25 0.25 0.4 0.6 NA NA 

 
Table Notes: 

1. Refer to yard and setback modifications of this Article 
2. Due to the unique design features of townhouses, patio homes, and zero lot line housing, 

the dimensional requirements of Table 2 are modified under Conditional Uses for 
Townhouses and Conditional Uses for Patio and Zero Lot Line Housing 

3. Abbreviations 
a. NA = not applicable 

 
Table References: 

A. Measurement from front property line abutting the street right-of-way 
B. Building height measured from the average elevation of the finished grade at the building 

line to the highest point on the roof 



ORDINANCE 23 – 10 

C. Maximum non-residential floor area ratio is measured as gross floor area percentage of 
total lot area 

D. Minimum lot sizes in the Single Family (RS) Residential District are as follows:  
1. Single Family Detached: 12,500 s.f.  
2. Patio and Zero Lot Line Homes: 3,000 s.f. per unit on average, with a maximum of 

six units per net acre 
E. Minimum lot sizes in the General Residential (RG) District are as follows:  

1. Single Family Detached: 6,000 s.f. for the first unit and 4,000 s.f. for any additional 
structures  

2. Duplexes: 8,000 s.f. per two-unit structure 
3. Patio and Zero Lot Line Homes: 3,000 s.f. per unit on average 
4. Townhomes: 3,000 s.f. per unit 
5. Apartments: No minimum lot size; capped at 16 units per gross acre  

F. Minimum side yard setbacks in CN, CG, and LM districts are a minimum of 3 feet on 
one side and a total of 10 feet for both sides 

G. Building heights of more than 40 feet shall observe an additional setback from side and 
rear property lines of one foot for each one foot in height over 40 feet; buildings in 
excess of five stories shall be approved by the Irmo Fire Department. 

 
 
 
 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
 

) ORDINANCE 23-11 
 
TOWN OF IRMO  ) 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO RE-CLASSIFY 4.54 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF MUSKRAT RUN AND EMERALD COVE, TMS # R03202-01-16, FROM RG, GENERAL 

RESIDENTIAL, TO FA, FRINGE AGRICULTURAL, AND TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP OF 
THE TOWN OF IRMO TO SO REFLECT 

WHEREAS, a request has been presented to the Irmo Town Council by the current record titleholder of property located 
along Muskrat Run, TMS # R03202-01-16, to re-classify the property from RG, General Residential, to FA, Fringe 
Agricultural; and 

WHEREAS, the Town and its Planning Commission, per SC Code § 6-29-760 Procedure for enactment or amendment of 
zoning regulation or map; notice and rights of landowners; time limit on challenges met the State’s zoning procedural 
standards. Simply, notice was advertised in The New Irmo News at least fifteen days prior to the public hearing, notice 
was conspicuously posted on or adjacent to the property, and a public hearing was held; and 

WHEREAS, the Irmo Planning Commission, during a meeting held on April 25, 2023, recommended to the Irmo Town 
Council to classify said property to the appropriate zoning classification of FA, Fringe Agricultural; and 

WHEREAS, it is necessary and desirable to reclassify said property to FA, Fringe Agricultural; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Irmo, South 
Carolina, in Council duly assembled on this 27th day of June, 2023, that the Zoning Classification pertaining to the subject 
parcel be hereby re-classified from its current zoning of RG, General Residential to FA, Fringe Agricultural; and 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that the official zoning map of the Town of Irmo be, and the same hereby is, amended 
to so reflect. 

DONE IN COUNCIL ASSEMBLED this 27th day of June, 2023 
 
 
 
 

Barry A. Walker, Sr., Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
Renee Caviness, Municipal Clerk 

 
 
1st Reading: May 16, 2023 
2nd Reading: June 27, 2023 
Public Hearing: June 27, 2023 



Muskrat Run Rezoning  
Muskrat Run & Emerald Cove, TMS R03202-01-16 

Planning Commission: April 25, 2023 

Town Council: May 16, 2023 and June 27, 2023 

Subject 
Property 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
 

) ORDINANCE NO. 23-12 
 
TOWN OF IRMO ) 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE DESIGNATING ALLOCATIONS FOR FUNDING THROUGH THE 
CORONAVIRUS STATE AND LOCAL RECOVERY FUNDS (CSLRF). 

 
WHEREAS, Congress adopted the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) of 2021, which included $65 

million in Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF) to provide support to state and local 
governments; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Irmo has received $5,056,297.44 through ARPA and the SLFRF with 

$2,528,148.72 received as of October 2021 and the remaining $2,528,148.72 received as of December 2022; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Final Rule by the U.S Treasury allows for recipients of the SLFRF to elect to use a 
“standard allowance” instead of calculating actual lost revenue with total ARPA allocations of $10 million or less 
to replace lost public sector revenue; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Irmo Town Council agrees to elect the “standard allowance” to calculate the lost 

revenue for the Town of Irmo that will be used on government services; and 
 

WHEREAS, the SLFRF program for replacing lost revenue provides flexibility to meet local needs and 
may be used to pay for government services including construction of roads and other infrastructure, provision 
of public safety and other services, and health and educational service; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Council desires to maximize the public benefit and to adhere to the public purpose for 

any allocations of funds, with the attention to projects that will have a lasting effect on services provided by the 
Town of Irmo; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Council hereby designates the following direct allocations and amounts of project 

funding for the Town through the ARPA fund: 
 

1. Premium Pay to Essential Personnel $79,340 
 

The Town of Irmo has distributed Premium Pay to town employees as previously approved by 
Town Council on 11/15/2022. 
 
2. Police Projects and Upgrades $95,000 

 
The Police Department has demonstrated the need to continue improvements with software, 
hardware, and office space reconfiguration with facility upgrades. 

3. Administrative Projects and Upgrades $70,000 
 

The Town Administrative Staff has demonstrated the need to upgrade their capabilities in 
preserving, scanning, and archiving council and other town records in accordance with standard 
practices and record retention regulations. Other projects include upgrades to computers and 
other IT components. 

 



 
 

4. Irmo Community Park Playground Project $185,000 
 

Projects include the rehabilitation of the two (2) playgrounds. 
 

5. Rawls Creek Park $700,000 
 

Projects include construction of dog parks, bathroom facilities, lighting, signage, and fencing. 
 

6. Municipal Building Upgrades $40,000 
 

Projects include paint and furniture upgrades, audio upgrades, and repairs to the a/c units. 
 

7. Public Works Upgrades $326,903 
 

The Public Works Department has demonstrated the need to replace aging equipment. Projects 
include replacing riding mowers, bucket truck, woodchipper, and tank sprayer. 
 

Total ARPA Funds allocated for these listed projects:  $1,496,243 
 
 

 
BE IT ORDERED AND ORDAINED, BY THE TOWN OF IRMO, SOUTH CAROLINA, IN 
COUNCIL DULY AND LAWFULLY ASSEMBLED AND BY THE AUTHORITY THEREOF. 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this  day of  2023. 

 
 
 
 
 

Barry A. Walker, Sr., Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
 

Renee Caviness, Municipal Clerk 
 
 
1st Reading – June 27, 2023 
2nd Reading – July 18, 2023 
Public Hearing – July 18, 2023 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
 

) ORDINANCE NO. 23-13 
 
TOWN OF IRMO ) 

 
 

AN ORDINANCE DIRECTING THE REMAINING FUNDS FROM THE CORONAVIRUS STATE 
AND LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUNDS (SLFRF) TO THE TOWN OF IRMO GERNERAL FUND. 

 
WHEREAS, Congress adopted the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) of 2021, which included $65 

million in Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds (SLFRF) to provide support to state and local 
governments; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of Irmo has received $5,056,297.44 through ARPA and the SLFRF with 
$2,528,148.72 received as of October 2021 and the remaining $2,528,148.72 received as of December 2022; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Final Rule by the U.S Treasury allows for recipients of the SLFRF to elect to use a 
“standard allowance” instead of calculating actual lost revenue with total ARPA allocations of $10 million or less 
to replace lost public sector revenue; and 

WHEREAS, the Irmo Town Council agrees to elect the “standard allowance” to calculate the lost 
revenue for the Town of Irmo that will be used on government services; and 

 
WHEREAS, the SLFRF program for replacing lost revenue provides flexibility to meet local needs and 

may be used to pay for government services including construction of roads and other infrastructure, provision 
of public safety and other services, and health and educational service; and 

WHEREAS, the Irmo Town Council passed Ordinance 22-05 that designated ARPA Funds be directed 
to specific projects that have not been executed or came in under budget; and  

WHEREAS, specifically Ordinance 22-05 directed $800,000 to a Downtown District concept that has 
been abandoned thus leaving $717,239 in remaining funds; and  

WHEREAS, specifically Ordinance 22-05 directed $57,000 to a Court System Upgrade that has come 
in under budget thus leaving $36,435 in remaining funds; and 

WHEREAS, specifically Ordinance 22-05 directed $500,000 towards Grant Awards that have not all 
been spent thus leaving $136,875 in remaining funds; and 

WHEREAS, these specific funds, along with any remaining ARPA Funds not directed by Ordinance or 
approvals, and any ARPA Funds directed by ordinance for projects that have come in under budget, are hereby 
directed to the Town of Irmo’s General Fund; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of Irmo has now designated and obligated the use of all of the ARPA Funds 
received to date and before the deadlines set by the U.S. Treasury; and  

 

 

 



BE IT ORDERED AND ORDAINED, BY THE TOWN OF IRMO, SOUTH CAROLINA, IN 
COUNCIL DULY AND LAWFULLY ASSEMBLED AND BY THE AUTHORITY THEREOF. 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this  day of  2023. 

 
 
 
 
 

Barry A. Walker, Sr., Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
 

Renee Caviness, Municipal Clerk 
 
 
1st Reading – June 27, 2023 
2nd Reading – July 18, 2023 
Public Hearing – July 18, 2023 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ORDINANCE 23 – 14 
) 

TOWN OF IRMO   ) 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND MULTIPLE SECTIONS OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF 
ORDINANCE AS WELL AS APPENDIX A – ZONING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT FOR 

THE PURPOSE OF REMOVING SPECIFIC FEE AMOUNTS 
 
WHEREAS, the Town of Irmo desires to strengthen its Municipal Code of Ordinance and 
incorporated Code of Zoning and Land Development Regulation, amending said Code to address 
noted errors, omissions, vague language, and add appropriate standards; and 

WHEREAS, the following text amendments to the Town of Irmo Code of Zoning and Land 
Development Regulations has been proposed through collaboration with the Planning Commission; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, at their June 12, 2023, meeting, voted to recommend 
approval of this amendment, as attached. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and Town Council of the 
Town of Irmo, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled on this 18th day of July, 2023, that the 
Town of Irmo Code of Zoning and Land Development Regulations is hereby amended. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of July, 2023. 

      
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Barry A. Walker, Sr., Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________  
Renee Caviness, Municipal Clerk  
 
1st Reading: June 27, 2023 
2nd Reading: July 18, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE 23 – 14 

Changes to the Municipal Code of Ordinance and Appendix A, Code of Zoning and Land 
Development Regulations  

Sec. 1-12. - Master Fee Schedule 
As of July 18, 2023, all known references to specific fees located in this Ordinance (other than fees 
assessed by Law Enforcement) were removed and placed in a Master Fee Schedule separately 
adopted by Council.  Wherever any conflict exists between the Master Fee Schedule and any fees 
erroneously remaining in this Code, the Master Fee Schedule shall take precedence.    
 
Sec. 8-58. - Application and fee. 
Applications for appeal shall be obtained from the building official or town hall. Applications shall 
be filed within 30 calendar days after the decision is rendered by the building official. A fee set by 
Council shall accompany the application for appeal. The appeal shall be in a form acceptable to the 
building official. An appeal or application may be withdrawn by written notice to the town 
administrator, building official or board secretary prior to action by the CBAA. 
 
Sec. 11-2. - License required. 
No owner shall operate any residential rental unit unless that owner holds a current rental license 
issued by the Town of Irmo for the residential rental unit named therein. Licenses are not 
transferable from any owner to another. The license year shall begin on January 1 and end on 
December 31. The required license fee may be paid beginning January 1 and must be renewed by 
April 15 each year. Renewals of licenses after April 15 will be assessed a late penalty fee as set by 
Council. Each residential unit must have a separate license. 
 
Sec. 11-10. - License fee. 

(a) Effective January 1, 2021 the annual license fee shall be $150.00 per dwelling. The fee will 
increase to $250.00 per dwelling, effective January 1, 2022. As of July 18, 2023 the fee shall 
be set by Council and listed in the Town’s Master Fee Schedule.  All registration fees are 
due before April 15th of each calendar year and failure to register by the deadline will result 
in a penalty as set by Council. 

 
Sec. 14-104. - Fee schedule. 

(a) The sediment control and drainage plan shall be accompanied by a nonrefundable fee as set 
by Council. 

 
Sec. 28-6. - Unimproved street policy. 

(a) A request for closing, acquiring or otherwise utilizing a municipal street right-of-way shall 
be submitted in writing, together with a processing fee, set by Council, to the town 
administrator. The administrator shall transfer the request to the planning commission for 
study and recommendation to town council for final action on the request. 

 
Appendix A, Sec. 2-3.14 Special exception for wireless communication (cell) towers and permit 

requirements for co-location of antenna on existing towers. 
(6) Permit requirements for the erection or placement of a tower or antenna shall be 

accompanied by the following: 



ORDINANCE 23 – 14 

a.  Processing fee as set by town council. 
 
Appendix A, Sec. 2-3.14(1) Permit Requirement for Co-location  
Co-location of antenna on existing towers do not require a special exception. Permit application for 
the co-location of an antenna on an existing tower shall be accompanied by the following: 

a. Processing fee as set by town council. 
 
Appendix A, Sec. 2-4 Temporary Uses 
G.4.  Food trucks and trailers. Food trucks at special events shall comply with the conditional uses 

for mobile food services (vendors, food trucks) regulations of this appendix. Only three food 
trucks and/or trailers will be allowed at each SE and must be invited by the event host and 
included on the event permit. There is a separate permit fee, as set by Town Council, charged 
to each food truck and/or trailer. 

 
Appendix A, Sec. 4-6.13(3) Replacement of Trees Removed 
All trees removed on public property shall be replaced within two years after removal. If the site 
where the tree was removed is not suitable for replanting, a tree shall be planted in a suitable 
location as close as possible to the removal location. If there is no suitable location close to the 
removal location, then a tree shall be planted in a planned planting location in the vicinity. The town 
may, at its discretion, assess a replacement fee as set by Council per tree for each tree removed to 
the individual, group, or agency requesting the removal. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ORDINANCE 23 – 15 
) 

TOWN OF IRMO   ) 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND APPENDIX A – ZONING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT;  
SECTION 2-2; TABLE 1; SCHEDULE OF PERMITTED, CONDITIONAL, AND SPECIAL 

EXCEPTION USES AND OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS BY ZONING 
DISTRICT; AND THE CREATION OF SEC. 2-3.18 SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS FOR CAR 

WASH FACILITIES 
 
WHEREAS, the Town of Irmo desires to strengthen its Code of Zoning and Land Development 
Regulation, amending said Code to address noted errors, omissions, vague language, and add 
appropriate standards; and 

WHEREAS, the following text amendment to the Town of Irmo Code of Zoning and Land 
Development Regulations has been proposed through collaboration with the Planning Commission; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, at their June 12, 2023 meeting, voted to recommend 
approval of this amendment, as attached. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and Town Council of the 
Town of Irmo, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled on this 18th day of July, 2023, that the 
Town of Irmo Code of Zoning and Land Development Regulations is hereby amended. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of July, 2023. 

      
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Barry A. Walker, Sr., Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________  
Renee Caviness, Municipal Clerk  
 
1st Reading: June 27, 2023 
2nd Reading: July 18, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE 23 – 15 

Article 2 Primary Zone District Regulations 

Table 1 

Schedule of Permitted, Conditional, and Special Exception Uses and Off‐Street Parking 
Requirements by Zoning District 

Use 
NAICS 
Code RS RG CO CN CG LM FA 

Parking 
Standards 

Carwashes  811192     P SE P SE  
Refer to 
special 
exceptions 

 
2‐3.18 Special Exceptions for Car Wash Facilities 
 

A. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall approve all buffer landscaping on the exterior lot lines of 
any such proposed facilities. 

B. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall approve all exterior building materials, colors, and 
appearance for any and all structures located within such proposed facilities. 

C. The Zoning Board of Appeals is to pay special attention to the “General Rules for Special 
Exceptions,” as outlined in this Ordinance, as regards subsection E, the “concentration or 
proliferation” clause. 

D. Such approvals are only required for separate car wash facilities.  Car washes as an 
accessory use to a gas station are permitted by right. 

 
 



 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ORDINANCE 23 – 16 
) 

TOWN OF IRMO   ) 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND APPENDIX A – ZONING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT;  
SECTION 2-2; TABLE 1; SCHEDULE OF PERMITTED, CONDITIONAL, AND SPECIAL 

EXCEPTION USES AND OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS BY ZONING 
DISTRICT; AND AN AMENDMENT TO SECTION 4-1.4 DETERMINATION OF BUFFER 

AREA REQUIREMENTS 
 
WHEREAS, the Town of Irmo desires to strengthen its Code of Zoning and Land Development 
Regulation, amending said Code to address noted errors, omissions, vague language, and add 
appropriate standards; and 

WHEREAS, the following text amendment to the Town of Irmo Code of Zoning and Land 
Development Regulations has been proposed through collaboration with the Planning Commission; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, at their June 12, 2023 meeting, voted to recommend 
approval of this amendment, as attached. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and Town Council of the 
Town of Irmo, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled on this 18th day of July, 2023, that the 
Town of Irmo Code of Zoning and Land Development Regulations is hereby amended. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of July, 2023. 

      
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Barry A. Walker, Sr., Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________  
Renee Caviness, Municipal Clerk  
 
1st Reading: June 27, 2023 
2nd Reading: July 18, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE 23 – 16 

 

Article 2 Primary Zone District Regulations 

Table 1 

Schedule of Permitted, Conditional, and Special Exception Uses and Off‐Street Parking 
Requirements by Zoning District 

Use 
NAICS 
Code RS RG CO CN CG LM FA 

Parking 
Standards 

Leasers of mini 
warehouses and 
self-storage units  

53113      SE  
Refer to 
special 
exceptions 

 
 
4‐1.4 Determination of Buffer Area Requirements 

D.  Type D buffer area required. Wherever a new or fifty percent enlargement of an existing 
industrial, warehouse, mini-warehouse, outdoor storage, or other similar use is proposed for 
a site or lot adjoining any zoning district other than LM, Light Manufacturing, with no 
intervening public or private street or right‐of‐way of 18 feet or greater, a type D buffer area 
shall be provided along the boundary of the adjoining district’s property line. 

 
 
 
 



 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) ORDINANCE 23 – 17 
) 

TOWN OF IRMO   ) 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 2 - ADMINISTRATION, DIVISION 2 - 
MEETINGS, OF THE TOWN OF IRMO CODE OF MUNICIPAL ORDINANCE 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Irmo desires to strengthen its Municipal Code of Ordinance, amending 
said Code to address noted errors, omissions, vague language, and add appropriate standards; and  

WHEREAS, Council wishes to amend the Code of Municipal Ordinance as attached; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and Town Council of the 
Town of Irmo, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled on this 18th day of July, 2023, that the 
Town of Irmo Code of Municipal Ordinance is hereby amended. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of July, 2023. 

      
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Barry A. Walker, Sr., Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________  
Renee Caviness, Municipal Clerk  
 
1st Reading: June 27, 2023 
2nd Reading: July 18, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE 23 – 17 

 

Changes to the Municipal Code of Ordinance  

Sec. 2-64. - Rules of Order and Order of Proceedings 
(b)(2) Approval of the agenda; (amendments to the agenda of a regular scheduled meeting may be 

considered with the approval of a majority of council members present — subject to any 
applicable state laws) 

(b)(3)  Reading of minutes of previous meetings and workshops, and their consideration and 
approval; 

(b)(7)  Unfinished business to include second reading of ordinances; 
(c) If it is desired to transact business out of its order, it shall be necessary to suspend the rules 

by a vote of a majority of the council members present. A motion to suspend the rules may 
be made at any time during the meeting. 

 
Sec. 2-66. - Voting requirements 
(Add subsections B, C, and D as follows:) 

b. Council members are considered “present” at Council Meetings or Workshops if they 
participate either by being physically present or attending electronically. In-person, physical 
attendance is expected to be the norm. 

c. Council members may participate electronically in council or committee meetings or 
workshops and possess the same authority as members who are physically present at the 
meeting, provided that all of the following conditions are met: 

(1) A quorum of the council members are physically present at the meeting place and 
remain physically present throughout the meeting; 

(2) The presiding officer is physically present at the meeting; 
(3) Council members, attending in person and by electronic means, and persons in 

attendance at the council meeting can hear any and all comments made at the 
meeting; and, 

(4) All comments, motions and votes of the member(s) attending electronically are 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

d. Electronic participation shall be limited to situations that prevent physical attendance at 
meetings and not used as the primary method of meeting attendance. 

 
Sec. 2-68. - Agenda and order of proceedings for special meetings. 

a. Matters to be considered by the council at a special meeting, except a called emergency 
meeting, shall be placed on a written agenda prepared by the municipal clerk and publicly 
posted a minimum of 24 hours in advance. Amendments to the agenda of any special 
meeting may be considered with a two-thirds vote of members present. The agenda of the 
special meeting will be: 

1. Call to order; 
2. Approval of the Agenda; 
3. Presentation by citizens (agenda item only); 
4. New business; 
5. Presentation by citizens; 
6. Executive session (if needed); 
7. Adjournment. 

b. If it is desired to transact business out of its order, it shall be necessary to suspend the rules 



ORDINANCE 23 – 17 

 

by a vote of a majority of the council members present. A motion to suspend the rules may 
be made at any time during the meeting. 


	Ord 23-07 - Budget  & Master Fee Schedule - FY 23-24.pdf
	E X P E N D I T U R E S
	TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES OF
	ALL FUNDS:        $9,350,071





